IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed
Jun 28 2019 04:14 p.m.
MICHAEL PATRICK LATHIGE Lizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court
Appellant,

— *vs.* —

BRITISH COLUMBIA SECURITIES COMMISSION, Respondent.

Case No. 78833

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Appeal from Case No. A-18-771407-C Eighth Judicial District Court For Clark County Hon. Adriana Escobar

Jay D. Adkisson, SBN 12546 Adkisson PLLC 2505 Anthem Village Dr Suite E599 Henderson, NV 89052 Ph: 702-953-9617

Fax: 877-698-0678 jay@jayad.com

-953-9617 Fax: 702-382-5816 7-698-0678 mechols@maclaw.com

Counsel for Appellant, Michael Patrick Lathigee

Micah S. Echols, SBN 8437

Marquis Aurbach Coffing

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Michael Patrick Lathigee ("Lathigee") appeals from the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment ("Judgment"), 8 JAX1487, entered on May 14, 2019, by the Eight Judicial District Court sitting *nisi prius* in Case No. A-18-771407-C. The Judgment is a "final judgment" per NRAP 3A(b)(1).

The Judgment was noticed on May 14, 2019, 8 JAX1507, and Lathigee's Notice of Appeal was filed on May 17, 2019, 8 JAX1529.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(11) and (12) insofar as it raises two issues of first impression in Nevada of statewide importance, being (1) the breadth of the Nevada Uniform Recognition of Foreign County Money Judgments Act ("NURF-CMJA"), NRS 17.700 et seq., as it relates to disgorgement orders, and (2) the application of comity to a foreign-country disgorgement order.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- (1) Whether a disgorgement judgment is in the nature of a penalty such that it is not subject to recognition under the Nevada Uniform Recognition of Foreign-Country Money Judgments Act ("NURF-CMJA"), NRS 17.700 et seq., and more specifically NRS 17.740(2)(b).
- (2) Whether a disgorgement judgment is in the nature of a penalty such that it is not subject to recognition in Nevada under the doctrine of comity.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The British Columbia Securities Commission ("BCSC") on March 20, 2018, filed its Complaint, 1 JAX1, to register a Disgorgement Order, 1 JAX10-16, which will be described in detail below, against defendant Michael Patrick Lathigee ("Lathigee"). Lathigee filed his Original Answer on April 9, 2018, 1 JAX17, and a First Amended Answer on June 6, 2018. 1 JAX21.

On October 19, 2018, Lathigee filed his Motion for Summary

Judgment. 1 JAX32. The BCSC filed its Opposition and

Countermotion for Summary Judgment on November 9, 2018. 1 JAX149. Further briefing on the competing summary judgment motions was submitted by the parties. 7 JAX1218 (Lathigee) and 7 JAX1236 (BCSC).

The District Court held a hearing on the competing motions for summary judgment on December 4, 2018, which resulted in the only transcript in this matter. 8 JAX1410. The Court took the matter under advisement, and asked the parties to submit proposed orders (a/k/a "Statements of Fact") which they did. 8 JAX1432 (Lathigee) and 8 JAX1461 (BCSC).

On May 14, 2019, the District Court signed the proposed order submitted by the BCSC, apparently without any modification, which became the final Judgment. 8 JAX1487. The BCSC that same day gave its Notice of the entry of the judgment. 8 JAX1507. On May 17, 2019, Lathigee filed his Notice of Appeal. 8 JAX1529.

I. INTRODUCTION

This case has the distinction of being the first case in Nevada to consider the circumstances under which a judgment from a foreign country, here Canada, may be recognized as a Nevada judgment. The BCSC has correctly identified and seeks recognition of the Canadian judgment under the two possible basis for such recognition, being the statutory basis of the Nevada Uniform Recognition of Foreign-Country Money Judgments Act ("NURF-CMJA"), NRS 17.700 et seq., and the common-law doctrine of comity.

This Court has had no previous opportunity to examine NURF-CMJA in the context of an actual attempt by a litigant to seek recognition of a foreign-country judgment. The NURF-CMJA is mentioned in the lengthy dissent by Justice Pickering in *City of Oakland v. Desert Outdoor Advert., Inc.*, 127 Nev. 533, 543, 267 P.3d 48, 54 (2011), by way of comparison to the Nevada sister-state judgment recognition, the Nevada Uniform Enforcement of Foreign Judgments Act ("NUEFJA"), NRS 17.330 *et seq.*, but the instant case is the first one where this Court has an actual foreign-country money judgment before it.

¹ Phonetic "nurf-sim-juh."

Similarly, this Court has had no previous opportunity to examine the application of comity to a foreign-country money judgment, which presumably will require this Court to delve into the complex nuances of the common law and the American Law Institute's Restatement (Third or Fourth²) of the Law of Foreign Relations.

Indeed, it may rightfully be argued that the issues here are of national importance, insofar as whether a disgorgement order (which is what is involved here) is subject to registration under the Uniform Foreign-Country Money Judgment Recognition Act, of which NURF-CMJA is simply Nevada's variant, or under comity, appear to be ones of first impression in the United States.

The characterization of a foreign-country money judgment as a judicial interloper is made with substantial basis, as such a judgment is indeed an odd duck within our legal system. Unlike sister-state

2 Which is a minor drama all its own, discussed below, as the American Law Institute published the Restatement (Fourth) of the Law of Foreign Relations during the briefing of these issues before the District Court, and the parties had to re-orient their arguments from the Restatement

(Third) to the Restatement (Fourth) in anticipation that this Court would adopt the latter.

judgments which must be recognized under the Full Faith & Credit Clause of the U.S. Constitution, Art. IV § 1, foreign-country judgments carry no such constitutional imprimatur. Instead, a District Court sits *nisi prius* and free of any constitutional mandate to consider whether the foreign-country judgment is worthy of recognition.

By way of NURF-CMJA, our Assembly has authorized certain foreign-country money judgments to be recognized—and similarly mandated that some such judgments *not* be recognized—whereas such recognition under comity is much more complicated.

Lathigee asserts but a single defense that is common to both the NURF-CMJA and to comity, which is that the Disgorgement Order is in the nature of a fine or penalty, and is thus not subject to recognition under either the NURF-CMJA or comity. That is, quite literally, the CAD\$21.7 million question before this Court. Resolution of this single issue determines entirely the outcome of this case: If the Disgorgement Order is in the nature of a fine or penalty, then judgment should be for Lathigee and reversal is required; if not, then judgment should be for the BCSC and affirmance is required.

As will be discussed, the historic and also contemporary test for whether a judgment is in the nature of a fine or penalty is whether the judgment is meant to further some public interest by the government of the jurisdiction where the judgment was originally entered, as opposed to a purely compensatory private judgment for damages between private individuals. The District Court ultimately held that the Disgorgement Order is the latter, i.e., are in the nature of damages meant to compensate the victims of Lathigee's violation of the British Lathigee contends the former, i.e., the Columbia Securities Act. Disgorgement Order is meant to fulfill public purposes, such as protecting the British Columbia capital markets and to prevent Lathigee from using the funds to run another investment scheme, and that there might also be compensation to victims does not change the fundamentally public interest nature of the Disgorgement Order.

II. FACTS

The BCSC bifurcates its proceedings into two "portions", being a "liability portion" and a "sanctions portion", similar to how an American court might divide the liability and punitive damages phases of a trial.

On July 8, 2014, in the liability portion, Lathigee was found liable for violating § 57(b) of the BCSA. 5 JAX755-820.

To digress, § 161(1)(g) of the British Columbia Securities Act ("BCSA"), provides *in toto*:

161(1) If the commission or the executive director considers it to be in the public interest, the commission or the executive director, after a hearing, may order one or more of the following: ... (g) if a person has not

8

³ The BCSC also ordered that "under section 162, Lathigee pay an administrative penalty of \$15 million." 1 JAX71 ¶ 62(b)(iv) [sic]. The BCSC has not sought to register this part of its judgment against Lathigee.

complied with this Act, the regulations or a decision of the commission or the executive director, that the person pay to the commission any amount obtained, or payment or loss avoided, directly or indirectly, as a result of the failure to comply or the contravention. . . . "

1 JAX78 at ¶ 1

The BC Securities Commission registered the sanctions decision in the British Columbia Supreme Court on April 15, 2015, under § 163(1) of the BCSA which allows the Securities Commission to file a decision with the BC Supreme Court. "This does not involve an adjudication on the merits but is a registration process to facilitate the collection of monetary orders made by BCSC Panels." 1 JAX144 at ¶ 3.

Lathigee appealed the sanctions decision, and on May 31, 2017, the Court of Appeal for British Columbia issued its opinion in *Poonian* v. BCSC, 2017 BCCA 207 (2017), which, through a quirk of British Columbia appellate procedure whereby similar appeals involving different cases and litigants are resolved in a single opinion, also resolved *Lathigee* v. BCSC. 1 JAX74-125. Relevant passages from *Poonian* will be treated below in respect to particular issues.

On February 12, 2018, the BCSC attempted to register (which is a much more abbreviated and clerical-type procedure than to recognize) the Disgorgement Order in Clark County case no. A-18-769386-F (Dept. 12), under the Nevada Uniform Enforcement of Foreign Judgments Act ("NUEFJA"), NRS 17.330 et seq. However, as the NEUFJA is limited to so-called sister-state judgments from other U.S. jurisdictions that are entitled to Full Faith & Credit under the U.S. Constitution, i.e., "foreign" in the NUEFJA means "other states." The BCSC thus stipulated to dismiss that improvidently-filed action, and the dismissal was ordered by Judge Leavitt on March 21, 2018, thus ending that attempt stillborn.

The day before, on March 20, 2018, the BCSC had filed the instant lawsuit, 1 JAX1, seeking recognition of the Disgorgement Order, 1 JAX10-16, under two causes of action: First, under the Nevada Uniform Recognition of Foreign-Country Money Judgments Act ("NURF-CMJA"), NRS 17.700 et seq., and, second, under comity. The parties each conducted some very limited written discovery, after which both parties moved for summary judgment. 1 JAX32 (Lathigee) and

1 JAX149 (BCSC). Ultimately, on May 14, 2019, the District Court denied Lathigee's Motion for Summary Judgment, granted the BCSC's Countermotion for Summary Judgment, and entered Judgment for the BCSC which recognized the Disgorgement Order. 8 JAX1487. This appeal followed.

III. DISCUSSION

A. PROCEDURAL ISSUES

1. The Summary Judgment Standard

Summary judgment is appropriate where "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." NRCP 56(c); Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 731, 121 P.3d 1026 (2005) (discussing the summary judgment standard in considerable depth). Neither party to this case contended that a material issue of undisputed fact existed as of the time the District Court resolved the competing motions for summary judgment.

2. Standard of Review

The statutory interpretation of NURF-CMJA raises questions of law that are reviewed *de novo. Gonor v. Dale*, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 109, 432 P.3d 723 (2018); *J.D. Constr. v. IBEX Int'l Grp.*, 126 Nev. 366, 375, 240 P.3d 1033 (2010).

The standard of review of an issue relating to comity is not so clear. In the most oft-cited opinion on the subject, *Mianecki v. Second Judicial Dist. Court*, 99 Nev. 93, 98, 658 P.2d 422, 425 (1983), this court held that comity "is appropriately invoked according to the sound discretion of the court acting without obligation."

Attention is drawn to a thoughtful analysis of the subject found in *Greenwell v. Davis*, 180 S.W.3d 287, 294-95 (Tex. App. 2005):

Several Texas courts of appeals have held that a trial court's decision concerning comity should be reviewed for an abuse of discretion. The Texas Supreme Court, though, has stated that it "will not defer to the trial court on matters involving relations between Texas and other sovereigns." *K.D.F.*, 878 S.W.2d at 593 (discussing the standard of review for mandamus concerning whether Kansas sovereign immunity should apply based on comity). We believe de novo review rests on a firmer foundation than abuse of discretion. In general, we review de novo issues of law and only defer to the trial court when factual findings are at

issue. See id. Further, choice of law issues are normally reviewed de novo. The discretion in applying comity is a discretion of law rather than the discretion of the trial court. 16 Am. Jur. 2d Conflicts of Laws § 17 (1998). We will review de novo the trial court's decision.

Id., at 294-95 (emphasis added). The *Greenwell* approach makes sense: The recognition of foreign and foreign-country judgments is not a fact-based analysis, but rather evinces at a decision as to whether or not Nevada will extend comity to particular *types* of judgments, as is principally the issue in this case. Thus, to promote uniformity in the types of judgments that will be recognized in Nevada, this Court should reserve *de novo* review for foreign and foreign-country judgments arising in comity.

3. Conflict-Of-Laws And Classification

This Court has looked to the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws to resolve conflict issues. *See, e.g., Dictor v. Creative Mgt. Services, LLC*, 126 Nev. 41, 45-46, 223 P.3d 332, 335 (2010) (tort liability).

Under the Restatement (Second) § 5, Nevada applies its own choice of law rules. See Restatement (Second) Conflict of Laws § 5 at

Cmt. b ("A court applies the law of its own state, as it understands it, including its own conception of Conflict of Laws. It derives this law from the same sources which are used for determining all its law: from constitutions, treaties and statutes, from precedent, from considerations of ethical and social need and of public policy in general, from analogy, and from other forms of legal reasoning.").

For the instant case, the most important provision is Restatement (Second) Conflict of Law § 7, which provides the rules for what is known as "classification", 4 *i.e.*, which forum's laws apply to characterize certain things, such as the instant Disgorgement Order. *Comment* b to § 7 explains the concept of characterization:

Characterization is an integral part of legal thinking. In essence, it involves two things: (1) classification of a given factual situation under the appropriate legal categories and specific rules of law, and (2) definition or interpretation of the terms employed in the legal

⁴ "[T]he nature of the conflicts of laws is a dismal swamp, filled with quaking quagmires and inhabited by learned but eccentric professors who theorize about mysterious matters in a strange and incomprehensible jargon. The ordinary court or lawyer is quite lost when engulfed or entangled in it." ~ Prof. David C. Baldus as quoted in K. Lipstein, PRINCIPLES OF THE CONFLICT OF LAWS NATIONAL AND INTERNATIONAL, pg. 1 (Matrinus Nijhoff Publishers, 1981).

categories and rules of law. The factual situation must be classified to determine under what legal categories and rules of law it belongs. Likewise, the terms employed in the legal categories and rules of law must be interpreted in order that the factual situation may be placed under the appropriate categories and that the rules of law may properly be applied.

Under § 7(2), "[t]he classification and interpretation of Conflict of Laws concepts and terms are determined in accordance with the law of the forum, except as stated in § 8."5 In other words, and as applied here, § 7(2) requires that Nevada law—and not British Columbia law—governs the characterization of the Disgorgement Order at issue here. See, e.g., Contreras v. Am. Family Mut. Ins. Co., 135 F.Supp.3d 1208, 1226 at fn. 2 (D. Nev. 2015) ("Nevada law governs whether this claim is classified as being based in tort or contract. Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 7(2) ("Generally, "[t]he classification and

_

⁵ Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 8 deals with the subject of *renvoi*, *i.e.*, what happens when local law directs the court to apply the law of the foreign forum, and which is not an issue here.

interpretation of Conflict of Laws concepts and terms are determined in accordance with the law of the forum")."").6

Citing to *Illustration 1* of § 7 of the Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws (1971), the BCSC argued below that since British Columbia is the "place with the most significant relationship to the judgment . . . then the local law of [British Columbia] will apply in regard to the definition and classification of the disgorgement judgment." 1 JAX158, lines 3-8.

The problem here is that *Illustration 1* is based on the tort rule of Restatement (Second) Conflict of Laws § 145 which contemplates purely private tort actions between the injured party and the tortfeasor. The BCSC's action and judgment does not arise in tort—and thus the significant-relationship test is inapplicable—but instead is an administrative action under the British Columbia Securities Act, and more particularly § 161(1)(g) of that Act. Thus, *Illustration 1* is simply

_

⁶ Since nearly all of the Nevada conflict opinions deal with torts, mostly automobile and related insurance cases, and which apply conflict rules that are particular to tort cases and not at all applicable to the instant conflict, particular care has been taken in the reading of those opinions.

not relevant and, as will be shown, courts considering the classification issue in the area of foreign judgments and foreign-country judgments use their own local law to determine classification issues.

The BCSC also referenced § 98 of the Restatement (Second)
Conflict of Laws as requiring recognition of a foreign-country judgment.

1 JAX 158, line 6. Section 98 provides, however in *Comment g*:

g. Defenses: Enforcement of a foreign nation judgment can be resisted, in among other ways, on the ground that . . . the judgment was on a governmental claim (§ 120).

The referenced Restatement (Second) Conflict of Law § 120 then states that a "non-penal governmental claim" will be recognized, *i.e.*, a penal claim will not be recognized, which merely completes the circle to the salient issue of this case, which is whether the Disgorgement Order constitutes a penalty.

The proper choice-of-law analysis begins with para. (2) of § 7 of the Restatement, which states unambiguously that:

(2) The classification and interpretation of Conflict of Laws concepts and terms are determined in accordance with the law of the forum, except as stated in § 8.7

The law of the forum is that of Nevada; therefore, under § 7(2) of the Restatement, questions of classification and interpretation are to be resolved in accordance with Nevada law.

The U.S. District Court for the District of Nevada has held that pursuant to § 7(2) of the Restatement, Nevada law governs classification and interpretation of conflict-of-laws concepts and terms. Contreras v. American Family Mut. Ins. Co., 135 F.Supp.3d 1208 (D.Nev. 2015) ("Nevada law governs whether this claim is classified as being based in tort or contract. Restatement (Second) of Conflict of Laws § 7(2) (Generally, '[t]he classification and interpretation of Conflict of Laws concepts and terms are determined in accordance with the law of the forum')."). Id., at 1226 fn. 2.

-

⁷ Section 8 of the Restatement deals with that subject known as *renvoi*, being the situation where a state is directed by statute or court rule, etc., to apply the law of another state or jurisdiction, and which is plainly inapplicable here.

Admittedly, these conflict-of-laws issues are extremely difficult to maneuver. It is much easier to see how these issues were resolved in the context of actual court cases in the judgment recognition context. For instance, in all three cases cited by the BCSC where the Canadian courts had considered disgorgement orders, the Canadian courts applied their own local Canadian law—not U.S. law—to determine what constituted a "penalty" for purposes of Canadian law. *See, e.g.*, *U.S. v. Peever*, 2013 BCSC 1090 (2013); *U.S. v. Shull*, BCJ No. 1823 (1999); and *U.S. v. Cosby*, 2000 BCSC 338 (2000).8

However, the best example is found in Nevada, in *City of Oakland* v. *Desert Outdoor Advertising, Inc.*, 127 Nev. 533, 267 P.3d 48 (2011), where Justice Cherry applied the law of the forum, being Nevada law, to resolve the penalty classification issue in that case relating to a California judgment.

⁸ The BCSC effectively takes the position that Canadian law governs entirely, *i.e.*, the Canadian courts should apply Canadian law when considering a U.S. judgment as happened in the three referenced Canadian opinions, and the U.S. courts should also apply Canadian law when considering the instant Canadian judgment.

B. THE PUBLIC V. PRIVATE INTEREST RULE

The singularly critical issue in this case, controlling both recognition under NURF-CMJA and comity, is whether the BCSC's judgment furthers a public interest or a private interest. Neither the NURF-CMJA nor comity will recognize a foreign judgment brought in the public interest, as well-established by the precedential trifecta of *Huntington*, adopted by Nevada in *City of Oakland*, and applied to disgorgement orders in *Kokesh*. 11

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