## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL PATRICK LATHIGEE,

v.

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Aug 26 2019 09:31 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Supreme Court Case No. 78833

BRITISH COLUMBIA SECURITIES COMMISSION,

Respondent.

Dist. Court Case No. A-18-771407-C

### ANSWERING BRIEF

NAYLOR & BRASTER John M. Naylor (NBN 5435) Jennifer L. Braster (NBN 9982) 1050 Indigo Drive, Suite 200 Las Vegas, NV 89145 (702) 420-7000 ALVERSON TAYLOR & SANDERS Kurt R. Bonds (NBN 6228) Matthew M. Pruitt (NBN 12474) 6605 Grand Montecito Parkway, Suite 200 Las Vegas, NV 89149 (702) 384-7000

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is an appeal from the District Court's grant of summary judgment in favor of the Commission on its two causes of action: (i) application of NRS 17.700, *et seq.*, to a money judgment from British Columbia, Canada, and (ii) recognition of that judgment under the principles of comity.

NRS 17.700, et seq., contains Nevada's adoption of the Uniform Foreign-Country Money Judgment Recognition Act, which generally requires the recognition of money judgments of foreign countries. Lathigee claims the Act does not apply to the Judgment because it is a penalty, which is an exception to the Act's application. The Act uses the term "penalty" but does not define it. Nevada has not looked at what constitutes a penalty under the Act.

Other jurisdictions that have adopted the Uniform Act have looked at the issue, and they employ an approach based on whether the judgment to be enforced contains a component that is designed to give victims of wrongdoers' restitution. If the judgment contains an element of restitution, it is generally not considered a penalty. That is the case here. The point of the Judgment is to provide funds that the Commission must use to recompense victims of Lathigee's fraud. Therefore, it

is not a penalty, and the Act applies. The analysis below first looks at how other jurisdictions have interpreted the Uniform Act to demonstrate that the Court should affirm the grant of summary judgment. The second part of the analysis focuses on Lathigee's emphasis on the U.S. Supreme Court's *Kokesh* opinion, which, as proven below, has no application here.

Even if the Act does not apply, the Court should affirm the District Court's granting of summary judgment under the principles of comity. Recognizing the Judgment under the principles of comity is consistent with Nevada's policy considerations, fairness and protecting its citizens.

Lathigee argues that recognition under the principles of comity is improper because of Nevada's recognition of § 483 of the Restatement (Third) of Foreign Relations Law (1987). Nevada has not adopted § 483 but rather adopted § 482, which has no application here and which Lathigee does not argue. Section 483 states that a court is not required to, but is not prohibited from, recognizing a penalty. Even if Nevada does adopt § 483, the Judgment should nevertheless be enforced. The jurisdictions that have adopted § 483 use the same analysis used when analyzing the Uniform Act, i.e., does the judgment at issue have a component that compensates victims for their losses? The answer in this case is yes, the Court should recognize the Judgment because it is designed to return lost funds to the defrauded investors.

#### **ARGUMENT**

### A. The Supreme Court Reviews Grants of Summary Judgment De Novo

The Supreme Court reviews "a district court's decision to grant summary judgment and its conclusions of law de novo." *Daisy Trust v. Wells Fargo Bank*, *N.A.*, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 30, at \*5, \_\_\_ P.3d \_\_\_ (July 25, 2019) (citing *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005)); *Pressler v. City of Reno*, 118 Nev. 506, 509, 50 P.3d 1096, 1098 (2002).

"Pursuant to NRCP 56, a party may properly move for summary judgment where the party establishes that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." *Boesiger v. Desert Appraisals, LLC*, 444 P.3d 436, 439, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 25, at \*2 (July 3, 2019) (citations and internal quotations omitted). Summary judgment is appropriate when there are no genuine issues of material fact and the movant should prevail as a matter of law. *Id.*; *Wood*, 121 Nev. at 731, 121 P.3d at 1031.

# B. Nevada Adopted the Uniform Foreign-Country Money Judgment Recognition Act in 2007

The Uniform Law Commission first promulgated the Uniform Foreign-Country Money Judgment Act in 1962 and later amended it in 2005 (the "Uniform Act"). (National Conference of Commissioners of Uniform State Laws, Uniform Foreign-Country Judgment Recognition Act (2005) (With Prefatory Note or

Comments)). Twenty-four states and the District of Columbia have adopted the Uniform Act.<sup>2</sup>

Nevada adopted the 2005 Uniform Act in 2007, and it is codified at NRS 17.700, *et seq*. (the "Nevada Act"). Prior to the Nevada Act, Nevada had no specific statutory scheme for enforcing foreign-country money judgments, which are judgments of a court of a foreign country as opposed to a different state within the United States. NRS 17.730.

Application of the Nevada Act requires a two-step analysis. First, the party seeking enforcement must prove that the Nevada Act applies to the judgment at issue. NRS 17.700(3). To do that, the party must prove that the judgment has the following two characteristics:

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Alabama (Ala. Code § 6-9-250, et seq.); Arizona (A.R.S. § 12-3251, et seq.); California (Cal.C.C.P. § 1713, et seq.); Colorado (Colo. Rev Stat § 13-62-101, et seq.); Delaware (10 Del.C § 4801, et seq.); District of Columbia (DC ST § 15-361, et seq.); Georgia (O.C.G.A. § 9-12-110, et seq.); Hawaii (Haw. Rev. Stat. § 658F-1, et seq.); Idaho (I.C. § 10-1401, et seq.); Illinois (735 ILCS 5/12-661, et seq.); Indiana (IC 34-54-12, et seq.); Iowa (I.C.A. § 626B.101, et seq.); Massachusetts (M.G.L.A. 235); Michigan (MCL 691.1131, et seq.); Minnesota (M.S.A. 548.54, et seq.); Montana (MCA 25-9-601, et seq.); Nevada (NRS 17.700, et seq.); New Mexico (N.M.S.A. § 39-4D-1, et seq.); North Carolina (NDCC, 28-20.3-01, et seq.); North Dakota (NDCC, 28-20.3-01, et seq.); Oklahoma (12 Okl.St.Ann. § 12-718, et seq.); Oregon (O.R.S. § 24.350, et seq.); Tennessee (T.C.A. § 26-6-201, et seq.); Texas (V.T.C.A., Civil Practice & Remedies Code § 36A.001, et seq.); Virginia (VA Code § 8.01-465.13:1, et seq.); Washington (RCWA § 6.40A.010, et seq.).

- 1. The judgment must grant recovery for a sum of money. NRS 17.740(1)(a).
- 2. Under the laws of the foreign country, the judgment must be considered final, conclusive and enforceable. NRS 17.700(1)(b).

If the Nevada Act applies, a court "shall recognize a foreign-country money judgment . . . ." NRS 17.750(1). The Nevada Act does not apply to any judgment which constitutes "fines or other penalties." NRS 17.740(2)(b).<sup>3</sup> Whether the Judgment constitutes a fine or other penalty is the central issue in this case.

The second step of the analysis is to determine whether, if the Nevada Act applies, the judgment at issue falls within an exception to enforcement. See NRS 17.700(2)(a) - (c) and NRS 17.700(3)(a) - (h). For example, courts cannot enforce

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> All the states that have adopted the Uniform Act as well as the District of Columbia have provisions against judgments that constitute "fines or other penalties." Alabama (Ala. Code § 6-9-252(b)(2)); Arizona (A.R.S. § 12-3252(B)(1)(b)); California (Cal.C.C.P. § 1715(b)); Colorado (Colo. Rev Stat § 13-62-103(2)(b)); Delaware (10 Del.C § 4802(b)(2)); District of Columbia (DC ST § 15-361, et seq.); Georgia (O.C.G.A. § 9-12-112(b)(2)); Hawaii (Haw. Rev. Stat. § 658F-3); Idaho (I.C. § 10-1403(2)(b)); Illinois (735 ILCS 5/12-663 (b)(2)); Indiana (IC 34-54-12-1(b)(2)); Iowa (I.C.A. § 626B.103(2)(b)); Massachusetts (M.G.L.A. 235 § 23A (legislation pending)); Michigan (MCL 691.1131, et seq.); Minnesota (M.S.A. 548.56(b)(2)); Montana (MCA 25-9-603 (2)(b)); Nevada (NRS 17.740.); New Mexico (N.M.S.A. § 39-4D-3(B)(2)); North Carolina (N.C.G.S.A. § 1C-1852(b)(2)); North Dakota (NDCC, 28-20.3-02(2)(b)); Oklahoma (12 Okl.St.Ann. § 718.3(B)(2)); Oregon (O.R.S. 24.355(2)(b)); Tennessee (T.C.A. § 26-6-203(b)(2)); Texas (V.T.C.A., Civil Practice & Remedies Code § 36.001(2)(A)); Virginia (VA Code § 8.01-465.13:2(B)(2)); Washington (RCWA § 6.40A.020(2)(b).).

a judgment if the foreign court lacked subject matter jurisdiction. NRS 17.750(2)(b). Lathigee has not argued that any of these exceptions apply, and the only issue is whether the Judgment is a penalty pursuant to NRS 17.740(2)(b).

# C. The Nevada Supreme Court Has Not Looked at the Issue of What Constitutes a Penalty Under 17.740(2)(b), However, Other States Have and Focus on the Purpose of the Judgment at Issue

Neither the Uniform Act nor the Nevada Act defines the term "penalty," and the Supreme Court has not analyzed NRS 17.740(2)(b). Other states, however, have, and they focus on the purpose of the judgment when determining applicability of the Uniform Act.

Those states generally use the analytical framework first discussed in *Chase Manhattan Bank*, *N.A. v. Hoffman*, 665 F. Supp. 73 (D. Mass. 1987). *Hoffman* holds that a judgment should not automatically be considered a penalty within the meaning of the Uniform Act simply because the action is brought by a governmental entity. In reaching this conclusion the court looked beyond the labels of actions (e.g., criminal or civil) and focused on their effect. The court specifically looked at how the foreign court handled the claim under its own jurisprudence.

Defendant Herbert S. Hoffman ("Hoffman") was an officer of a Belgian company. 665 F.Supp. at 74. A Belgian court entered a judgment against him for criminal conduct related to his actions as an officer. *Id.* The Belgian court's judgment included a suspended jail sentence and a criminal fine. *Id.* Part of the

criminal proceedings involved a petition for civil damages made by the Belgian company. *Id*. The Belgian court ruled that it could award damages to the company even through it was primarily a criminal proceeding. *Id*. The court in *Hoffman* quoted the reasoning of the Belgian court, namely, that under Belgian jurisprudence, the court could award civil damages in a criminal proceeding:

[E]xamination of the criminal jurisprudence . . . indicates that nothing prevents the admissibility of the plaintiff's civil damages complaint against the bankrupt for a violation of criminal law.... [P]laintiff's action is well-founded . . . . [T]he damages claimed by the plaintiff, arising out of the non-payment of two bills of an aggregate amount of 96,964.94 U.S. dollars is the direct consequence of the embezzlement of assets committed by the accused . . . .

### *Id.*, 665 F. Supp. at 74.

The Belgian company assigned its judgment to Chase Manhattan Bank ("Chase"), which sought to enforce it in Massachusetts federal court. *Id.* Similar to the instant case, Chase brought two claims, the first was to enforce the judgment under Massachusetts' state law for the enforcement of foreign judgments. *Id.* Even though Massachusetts had not adopted a version of the Uniform Act, its law similarly prohibited the enforcement of a judgment constituting a fine or penalty. 665 F. Supp. at 74-75. Hoffman opposed Chase's collection action arguing that the judgment resulted from a criminal case and therefore was an impermissible fine or penalty. 665 F. Supp. at 75. As is the case in Nevada, Massachusetts' statute did not define the terms "fine" or "penalty," and there was no case law on the issue. *Id.* 

The Massachusetts court looked to a U.S. Supreme Court case called *Huntington v. Attrill*, 146 U.S. 657 (1892). In *Huntington*, the U.S. Supreme Court held that the issue of whether a judgment is a penalty turns on whether its purpose is to "punish an offense against the public justice of the state, or to afford a private remedy to a person injured by the wrongful act." *Hoffman*, 665 F. Supp. at 75 (quoting *Huntington*, 146 U.S. at 673-74). The Massachusetts court found that Chase could enforce the judgment. The court found that even though the Belgian proceedings were primarily criminal in nature, the Belgian court had dealt with the civil damages separately:

In the present case, it is clear that the Belgian proceeding forming the basis of this suit was primarily a criminal proceeding. Defendants point out the language of the decision: the defendants were termed "the accused"; the court was "ruling in criminal matters" and "sentence[d]" the defendants to a conditionally suspended one year prison term and a 1,000 francs fine. Moreover, the court permitted the civil damages petition in evidence according to the tenets of "criminal jurisprudence."

Id., 665 F. Supp. at 75-76.

The Massachusetts court also emphasized the judgment was designed to return lost funds to investors rather than punish the wrongdoer:

It is equally clear, however, that the Belgian court dealt with the damages petition of Level Export as a civil remedy. The court titled that portion of its opinion "On the Civil Damages Petition of the Plaintiff." In addition, Level's petition for damages was presented on its own behalf for actual damages. The Belgian court noted that the damages claimed by the plaintiff arose out of the non-payment of two bills of an aggregate amount of \$96,964.94. The judgment against defendants was for precisely this amount. **Thus, the judgment was** 

remedial: it afforded a private remedy rather than punished an offense against the public justice of Belgium.

Id., 665 F. Supp. at 76 (emphasis added).

The Massachusetts court, specifically citing *Huntington*, noted that the benefit of the judgment inured to Chase, who stood in the shoes of the party bearing the loss:

Moreover, the benefit of the judgment accrued in in [sic] its particulars to the private party plaintiff, not the state. Consequently, under the *Huntington*, *supra*, and *Sullivan*, *supra*, formulation of what is a penalty in the international sense, the judgment Chase now seeks to enforce is clearly not "a fine or other penalty." Accordingly, defendants' motion for judgment on the pleadings on Count One should be denied.

Id.

The Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts adopted this approach of the U.S. District Court in *Hoffman* when it interpreted the Uniform Act. *Ducharme v. Hunnewell*, 411 Mass. 711, 585 N.E.2d 321 (Mass. 1992).

Other states that have adopted the Uniform Act have followed this lead of looking at how the judgment was rendered in the foreign court. For example, in *Hyundai Securities Co., Ltd. v. Lee*, 232 Cal.App.4th 1379 (Cal. Ct. App. 2015), the California court upheld the enforcement of a Korean judgment based on a criminal fine. Ik Chi Lee ("Lee") was the president of Hyundai Securities Co., Ltd. ("Hyundai"). *Id.* at 1383. During his tenure, several shareholders brought a derivative action against Lee and prevailed, obtaining a money judgment on behalf of Hyundai. *Id.* at 1384. A component of the monetary judgment was indemnity to

the company for a criminal fine it had to pay to the government due to Lee's misdeeds. *Id*.

Hyundai filed an action in California state court against Lee to enforce the judgment under California's version of the Uniform Act. *Id.* Like the Nevada Act, California's statute barred enforcement of penalties and that term was undefined. *Id.* at 1386.

Hyundai moved for summary judgment, and Lee opposed, claiming that the portion of the judgment that was for indemnification of the criminal fine was an unenforceable penalty. *Id.* at 1384-85. The trial court rejected Lee's argument and granted summary judgment in favor of Hyundai. Lee appealed. *Id.* at 1385.

In affirming the trial court's decision, the California Court of Appeals relied on the comments to the Uniform Act to conclude that "the prohibition against the recognition of a judgment based on a fine or taxes—enforcing the revenue laws or a penal judgment—does not include an award to compensate a plaintiff." Id. at 1389 (emphasis added). To reach this conclusion, the California court relied on the official comments of the Uniform Law Commission which drafted the Uniform Act. Id. at 1388. The California court quoted the commentary, which stated that in the context of the Uniform Act a judgment should not be deemed a penalty out of hand merely because a governmental agency obtains a civil monetary judgment for purpose of providing restitution to investors:

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